Proceedings of the
Danish Institute at Athens - I

Edited by Seren Dietz

)
)



© Copyright The Danish Institute at Athens, Athens 1995

The publication was sponsored by:

Consul General Gosta Enboms Foundation.

The Danish Research Council for the Humanities.
Konsul George Jorck og Hustru Emma Jorck’s Fond.

Proceedings of the Danish Institute at Athens

General Editor: Seren Dietz
Graphic design and Production by: Freddy Pedersen

Printed in Denmark on permanent paper
ISBN 87 7288 721 4

Distributed by

AARHUS UNIVERSITY PRESS
University of Aarhus

DK-8000 Arhus C

Fax (+45) 8619 8433

73 Lime Walk
Headington, Oxford OX3 7AD
Fax (+44) 865 750 079

Box 511
Qakville, Conn. 06779
Fax (+1) 203 945 94 9468

The cover illustration depicts a Bronze Statuette
of a Horse found at the Argive Heraion. NM 13943,
Drawing by Niels Levinsen. See p. 55, Fig. 19.



Birte Poulsen

NOTE 1

The excavations were be-
gun on behalf of the Bo-
drum Museum of Under-
water Archaeology, and we
are greatly indebted to the
Director Oguz Alpbzen, to
Dr. Aykut Ozet, who is
co-director of the excava-
tion, and to other mem-
bers of the Museum staff’
for their assistance during
the campaigns. Poul Peder-
sen, Odense University, is
director of the Danish Ex-
pedition, while the present
author has mainly acted as
field director of the exca-
vation in Coban Yildizi
Sokak, of which the pub-
lication is in preparation.
For preliminary reports,
Poulsen 1994;

Poulsen, forthcoming a;
Poulsen, forthcoming b.

NOTE 2

The cross indicates the lo-
cation of the Roman villa
immediately south of the
street which passes south of

the Maussolleion terrace.

NOTE 3

Studies on the orthogonal
town plan of Halikarnassos,
Pedersen 1988 and 1988a.

Pagans in Late Roman

Halikarnassos 1

The interpretation

of a recently excavated building

During four campaigns from 1990-1993
the Department of Greek and Roman
Studies at Odense University has been ex-
cavating part of a Roman building in an-
cient Halikarnassos.! It is situated on Co-
ban Yildizi Street, about 200 m. west of
the Maussolleion terrace (Fig. 1).? Origi-
nally, the main interest of the Danish team
in the present excavation was to throw
light on the town plan of Halikarnassos
during the 4th century B.C.? and since
the area in question had in fact yielded the
remains of a strong ashlar wall which
seemed to follow the orientation of the
late Classical town plan, i.e. 4 degrees
north of east, we particularly welcomed
the opportunity to excavate in this area
(Fig. 2). When we started our investiga-

tions considerable recent building activity
could be observed on the site, and a small
building had been erected to the south.
Large foundations trenches had been sunk
in the western and in the northernmost
part of the area, and strong concrete foun-
dations recently laid to the south-east.
This work was halted by the Bodrum
Museum of Underwater Archaeology, be-
cause mosaic floors had turned up. A team
from the Museum then undertook exca-
vations from north to south through the
central part of the area and cleared part of
three rooms decorated with mosaic floors
(Fig. 2, part of room E G and H).

The site is bounded to the east by the
modern Coban Yildizi Street, to the south
and north by smaller private roads, and to
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Fig. 1. Reconstructed town plan of Halikarmassos (Poul Pedersen).
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Fig. 2. Plan of the site with the excavated building (Inger Bjerg Poulsen). Fig. 4. Inscription in medallion seen from the west.

the west by a private property. It measures The mosaic floor of the main room (F)  ~oTE 4
approximately 25 m. east-west and 40 m. is decorated with partly figural, partly Designations according to
north-south. At least four different levels of ~ geometric motifs. A broad band with a di- ~ Campbell 1988, 85-100
mosaic floors have been established; all evi-  agonal grid enclosing diamonds in red, and 1991, 36-44.
dently belong to the last phase of the villa.  white, dark blue and light blue runs along  yo1e 5

The large apsidal room F has a total the walls and the apse, and inside this an-  The inscriptions will be
width of about 10 m., and a length of other band with a shaded multi-stranded published by S. Isager,
about 14 m. including the apse. Its mosa-  guilloche in red, yellow, light blue and l:’:;smty of Odense, see

ics, lying at a level of ¢. 10.40 m. as.l,, are  dark blue borders the figural composition
unfortunately much damaged due to buri-  at the centre. This consists of eight medal-

als during the 18th and 19th centuries lions arranged in a circle, and held togeth-
when the whole site was evidently used as  er with a two strand twist. Seven of these
a cemetery. Marble slabs with doorsteps medallions contain representations with

between them demarcated the room from  running stags and deers, a panther, and a
the apse, which was decorated with purely  dog, all placed against a background of

geometric mosaics* with a border of ivy- stylized trees; apparently a hunting scene
leaves and pomegranates. The geometric (Fig. 3). The medallion in front of the en-
pattern consists of squares with inscribed trance contained an inscription consisting

circles, rosettes and cable-knots alternating  of 8 lines, but unfortunately the left half
with Maltese crosses. The colours are red, ~ was disturbed by a burial (Fig. 4).° In the
dark blue and yellow on a white ground. spandrels of the circle, personifications of
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Fig. 8. Personification of Winter.

winged female Seasons were represented,
all characterized by inscriptions and the
attributes of the Seasons. The representa-
tions are various, but all are surrounded by
acanthus scrolls from which they seem to
emerge. The personification in the north-
west spandrel is wearing a light blue dress,
and holds a light blue scarf'in front of her
with representations of bunches of grapes
and fruits. On her head she wears a green
and yellow wreath. The attributes and the
Greek inscription situated above her right
wing “POINOITQPON* identify her
clearly as the personification of Autumn
(Fig. 5). The corresponding personifica-
tion of Spring, to the north-east, wears a
vellow dress and is holding a red scarf with
representations of flowers (Fig. 6). On her
head she wears a wreath with flowers in
different colours. The inscription, AIAP,
is placed with two letters on either side of

her head. The remaining two Seasons are
rather damaged and it cannot be deter-
mined whether they are male or female.
Their identities are, however, secured
through attributes and inscriptions. Thus
the figure to the south-west, which grows
directly from an acanthus (Fig. 7), holds in
its left hand a sickle and is presumably to
be identified as Summer, @ EPOX. Only
one letter of the inscription, a theta, can
be seen to the left. The remaining Season
to the south-east must then be identified
as Winter, XEIMQN(Fig. 8). This is
also confirmed by part of the inscription,
MQN, on the left side of the head. In ei-
ther hand the Season holds a bird by the
legs.

An inscription in a fabula ansata,
flanked by a dog to the right chasing a
wild goat to the left, was revealed in front
of the apse (Fig 9). It mentions a certain
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Charidemos, who paid for the mosaic
floors, and who can perhaps be identified
with the owner of the building.

Although winged female Seasons ap-
pear occasionally in Roman art, they were
never a common motif. Busts of winged
female Seasons were also found by New-
ton in room B of his Roman Villa in Hal-
ikarnassos.® They are, however, quite dif-
ferent from ours since they do not hold
any scarfs with attributes, though they
were likewise characterized by inscrip-
tions. Winged female Seasons are also
found in the mosaics of Roman North
Africa and Syria.” The closest parallels to
these Seasons are in fact found in the mo-
saic floor of the Constantinian Villa in
Antiochia.®? The four Seasons are shown in
this case emerging from an acanthus with
scrolls to either side. They are holding
scarfs with their attributes, just like the
Seasons of room E The Spring thus holds
a veil full of flowers and lilies, the Summer
a sheaf of wheat, and the Autumn a veil
with fruits (bunches of grapes and large
rounded fruits). The central part of the
Winter is unfortunately missing but her
mantle is raised to cover her head.

From this large apsidal room (F) access
was probably provided by two doors to
another room situated to the west (B).
This latter room was only partly excavat-
ed, since it extends under the neighbour-
ing plot, but it has remains of a much
damaged mosaic floor at the same level as
that of room E 1.e. ¢. 10.40 m. a.s.l. Since
this mosaic was no longer complete, it was
possible to excavate below the floor level,
and to ascertain the existence of several
foundation walls predating the mosaics
(Fig. 2). At least some of these foundation
walls must date to the Hellenistic period,
perhaps even to the 4th century B.C., since
the material found between them includes
a large amount of black-glazed pottery.

To the south of the apsidal room F we
found remains of at least three different
rooms or structures. To the west lay a
small paved yard (L), adjoining a large
room (K) with a tesselated floor with Mal-
tese crosses similar to the ones in the apsi-
dal room F, bordered by ivy-leaves spring-
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Fig. 9. Inscription in tabula ansata in front of the apse.

ing from an amphora in the corner. A
door led from this room to E To the east
is situated a further rather narrow room or
perhaps a corridor (M), in which no floor
has so far been traced. The levels of both
L and K are identical with that of E

The long narrow north-south oriented
room (G), about 2.80 m. broad, could not
be excavated in its entire length, but its

NOTE 6

Room B, Newton 1862,
285-286; Hinks 1933,
129-130, no. 51c-d. Only
two, Spring and Summer,
could be lifted and re-
moved to the British Mu-
seum. Winter was in a bad
condition and Autumn
lost.

NOTE 7

E.g. mosaic from Car-
thage, Tunis, Bardo Mus.,
Parrish no. 12, 120-122,
pl. 20-21, seated winged
female personifications
with nimbus. Mosaic from
El Djem, Tunis, Bardo
Mus., Parrish 1984, no.
40, 184-186, pl. 57b, and
mosaic from Zliten, Tripo-
li, Mus. Arch., Parrish
1984, no. 68, 243-246, pl.
94-95. For Syria, cf. note
8 and Balty 1973.

NOTE 8

Levi 1947, 226-257, pls.
52-57, 143b-¢, 160-162.
Winged female Seasons
(busts) were also found in
the House of the Calendar,
Levi 1947, pl. 5b.

Fig. 10. Room G seen from

the south.



total length could be estimated to about
17.20 m. when the earth along its eastern
wall and the threshﬂo_mld,f"rpm O was re-. -
moved (Figs. 2 and 10). The level of its
mosaic floor 1s ¢. 9.80 m. a.s.l. The mosaics
are almost all geometric in pattern, com-
posed of rectangular compartments ar-
ranged inside a border with bead and reel.
This is surrounded in turn by a diagonal
grid in dark blue, while the outer edge
along the walls consists of a light blue bor-
der of different width. The geometric pat-
terns inside the bead and reel border are
arranged in a row as follows: first a square
with an inscribed octagon, next a pattern
with interlacing circles with circles and
four-leaved clovers in the centres, next
lozenges alternating with squares, next a
square with an inscribed circle, then a
scale pattern, then triangles and squares,
and finely a square with an inscribed circle
with a bird perched on a branch in the
centre. It is now possible, however, to es-
tablish that the mosaic floor of this narrow
room continued to the west around a cor-
ner. This may be concluded on the basis
of two facts: firstly, because the western
wall of (G) stops at the point where an
east-west oriented wall has its beginning;
secondly, the light blue border along the
walls does not continue further south,
since it could be ascertained that at this
point the diagonal grid turns at a right an-
gle and continues around the corner.

No mosaics were found to the west of
(G), the only find here being an east-west
oriented wall which continues further
west (D). Both on this wall and the par-
allel wall to the north remains were found
of the marble facing in situ. East of the
narrow room (G), walls indicate at least
three different rooms, including at least
one earlier building phase represented by a
cistern, which apparently went out of use
at a later date.

Two steps led from the corridor into an
almost square room (H) to the east, meas-
uring ¢. 3.70 x 3.90 m. (Fig. 11). The
mosaics, at a level of about 9.30 m. a.s.L,
comprise geometric and floral motifs ar-
ranged in semicircles; the colours are yel-
low, dark blue, light blue and red on a

e
Fig. 11. Room H seen from the south.

white ground. Room ] to the east con-
tained no surviving floor, but remains of
two foundation walls earlier than the final
phase of the Roman villa were found.

To the south was excavated a part of
what was apparently a large room O with
a huge threshold leading to the passage G
to the west (Fig. 12). The mosaic floor in
room O, ¢. 8.80 m. as.l., is well preserved
with several borders surrounding a main
motif in the centre: outermost a border

with fish and dolphins, then a double

Fig. 12. The threshold of Room O seen from the east.
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swastika meander enclosing squares and a
border with acanthus rinceaux with alter-
nating birds and flowers in the centres
(Fig. 13). Only part of the main motif in
the centre of the floor has been revealed,
an ichthyo-centaur playing the cithara and
carrying a nereid on his back.’

Trench V was laid out to the south-
west. Its aim was to investigate the extent
of the structure, and to confirm whether
the western limit of the insula was (as we
had assumed) situated in this area (Fig. 2).
All we found, however, was an east-west
oriented wall built of smaller stones much
like the inner walls of the building, and
south of this a mosaic floor with a dark
blue diagonal grid formed of two tesserae.
As is evident from the plan, the remains of
trench V do not correspond to any part of
Newton’s villa, but the wall and the mosa-
ic south of it might nonetheless have be-
longed to the same building.
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Newton’s Roman Villa and
the recently excavated
structure

Already by the end of the 1991 campaign
it had become clear that the excavated re-
mains were only another part of the Ro-
man Villa excavated by C.T. Newton in
the Field of Hadji Captan in 1856."° On
Newton’s map of Halikarnassos, his Ro-
man Villa is placed immediately to the
south of the street that ran north of the
Maussolleion, the present Turgut Reis. It
appears, however, that the Roman villa
was wrongly located on Newton’s map. It
is, in fact, to be situated further south,
near the street that passed the south wall
of the Maussolleion.™

The excavated part of Newton’s villa
measures approximately 37 m. east-west,
27 m. north-south (Fig. 14). Apparently
Newton ascertained an outer wall to the

Fig. 13. Room O seen from
the cast.

Fig. 14. Plan of the two parts
of the villa juxtaposed
(Inger Bjerg Poulsen).

NOTE 9
A layer of lime still covers
the surface of the mosaic.

NOTE 10
Published in 1862, New-
ton 1862, 280-310.

NOTE 11

In discussing previous
studies of the town plan of
Halikarnassos, P. Pedersen
advanced the hypothesis
that the Roman villa was
wrongly placed on
Newton’s map, Pedersen
1988a, fig. 3. Cf. map of
Halikarnassos with the
correct location, Biirchner
1912, 2257-2258.

NOTE 12
Newton 1862, 303-304.
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NOTE 13 north in room A and B, and he states that

Hinks 1933, 125-143.

NOTE 14

The correspondence is
preserved in the British Li-
brary, for references, Jen-
kins 1992, 175-176. 1 am
greatly indebted to Dr. I.
Jenkins, British Museum,
for having drawn my atten-
tion to both the corre-
spondence and the preser-
ved photographs.

NOTE 15

The greater part of this
photographic material is
likewise preserved in the
British Library and will ap-
pear as documentation in
the forthcoming publica-
tion of the villa. For the
early use of the photo-
graphic records in archae-
ology, Feyler 1987.

the east wall of room B was built of large
squared blocks. He was, however, able to
extend his excavations neither further east
of room B and D due to a Turkish ceme-
tery, nor to the west and south where the
property of Hadji Captan was situated. He
does, however, mention a “pavement”
south of room C, which continued under
the yard wall of Hadji Captan’s house.’
Newton brought about half of the best
preserved mosaic floors back to the British
Museum,’® but he left many of the mosa-
ics with figural representations in situ, be-
cause he was short of the necessary plaster
to remove them. This is revealed in the
correspondance between Newton and his
friend, the then chief librarian of the Brit-
ish Museum, A. Panizzi."* Since it was
impossible for him to lift all the floors, he
decided to have all the mosaics photo-
graphed in situ,”® and with the help of this

invaluable photographic material it is now
possible both to complement the mosaics
removed and brought to the British Mu-
seumn, and to gain an impression of the
mosaics which Newton left in situ.

The existence of post-antique graves
on the site of the recent excavations, espe-
cially evident in the floor of the large apsi-
dal room E confirms that the area was
once used as a cemetery. That this must be
identical with the cemetery that prevented
Newton from extending his excavations
further east seems clear. The identical
floor levels and the western doorsteps of
the apsidal room F also demonstrate that
the newly excavated rooms were indeed
part of the same building as that excavated
by Newton. Furthermore, the excavated
part of room B, part of the western wall of
room G and the east-west oriented wall
between room D and N correspond to the
eastern part of Newton’ villa (Fig. 14).
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Newton states that the mosaic floor of
room B was much damaged, and he
therefore left most of it in place, merely
removing the figural motif, a representa-
tion of Atalanta and Meleager to the west;
but he had to leave a similar representation
of Aeneas and Dido to the east.’® This ac-
cords with the fact that the mosaic was
much damaged in the eastern part of
room B; in fact no surviving traces of the
representation of Aeneas and Dido were
found. The upper layers in both room B
and D were characterized by many frag-
ments of mosaics, presumably pieces
which had been left by Newton. Further-
more, we found remains of marble facing
in the room corresponding to Newton'’s
room D which are presumably identical
with the remains he mentioned.'” On the
other hand, the excavations have not con-
firmed the existence of an eastern outer
wall in Newton’s room B, although his
statement might be due to the fact that he
could not investigate it properly.'

The mosaics found by Newton were
situated about 60-90 cm. beneath the sur-
face level at that time. He ascertained two
different floor levels in his villa, a higher
one in rooms A, B, C and E, and a lower
one in room D and passages A and B; the
difference in level being spanned by two
steps leading from room C to passage A.
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Fig. 15. Section of the ashlar
wall (Ole A. Hansen).

The mosaics were variously bedded on a
layer of material from earlier buildings, or
on earth, or directly on the rock.”” The
tesserae were primarily of marble, but
tesserae of red brick and green glass were
also used.?® With the evidence of the re-
cent excavation, we are able to conclude
that the floor level of Newton’s rooms A,
B, C and E was about 10.40 m. a.s.l. and
that of passages A and B and room D
about 9.80 m. a.s.l. The latter level corre-
sponds to the level of the long narrow
room (G) which has identical proportions,
and mosaics similar to the ones of passage A.
The connexion between the two parts

NOTE 16
Newton 1862, 283-287.

NOTE 17
The walls in rooms A and D still had remains of a marble facing, Newton 1862,
308.

NOTE 18

The walls revealed by Newton were constructed partly in large ashlars, partly in
rubble and spoliated material from earlier buildings, e.g. column drums, Newton
1862, 281 and 305. A column drum with stucco was similarly reused in one of the
walls of room J.

NOTE 19
Newton 1862, 308-309.

NOTE 20
Newton 1862, 309.
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of the villa - the one excavated by New- dated to the 5th century A.D.,* and in
ton, the one by us - is also indicated by Cos, likewise in a church.?> Some of the
the fact that some of the geometric motifs ~ motifs of the mosaic in the long narrow
were in fact used in both. Thus the Mal- room G, e.g. a geometric pattern with
tese crosses in the apse of F and in room K scales and a motif with squares alternating
have an exact parallel in Newton’s room with lozenges (Fig. 10) find exact parallels
C, where they were used in the central in Newton’s passage A.** One of the com-
motif.?’ The motif is here surrounded by a2 positions in Newton’s room B closely re-
white border with ivy-leaves. Outside of ~ sembles the one in the apsidal room E
Halikarnassos, I know of only two other where eight medallions are placed in a cir-
examples, namely in Knidos, where the cle held together by a two strand twist.
motif was used in the Byzantine basilica Parallels to the personifications of the Sea-
sons are also found in room B, where
winged female personifications are charac-
NOTE 21 terized by the usual attributes and Greek

Newton 1962, 287-288, pls. XXXIX and XL; Hinks 1933, no. 52b, fig. 151.

NOTE 22
Mellink 1973, 193, pl. 73.6 (I.C. Love); Campbell 1979, 290, pl. 44, fig. 18.

NOTE 23

Campbell 1979, 290, 292, pl. 44, fig. 14. According to Campbell the mosaics in
this part of Asia Minor do not have many features in common with the East, e.g.
Syria.

NOTE 24
Passage A has approximately the same width, and is about 17 m. long, Newton
1862, 297-301, pl. XLI; Hinks 1933, no. 55b, fig. 160.

NOTE 25
Newton 1862, 286, pl. XL. In fact we detected part of two rather fragmented me-
dallions in the eastern part of room B.

NOTE 26
Newton 1862, 285-286; Hinks 1933, nos. 51c-d, fig. 149.

inscriptions.®

With the addition of the Roman villa
excavated by Newton, the excavated part
of the building measures ¢. 53 m. east-west
and 28 m. north-south, thus covering an
area of more than 1400 m?. The only as-
certained outer delimitation of the build-
ing still remains the ashlar wall to the
north, visible for about 17 m. in the recent
excavated part (Fig. 15). The ashlar wall
has a max. preserved height of ¢. 2.20 m.
and proved to be quite heterogeneous in
construction, built of blocks of various
material and size. The wall’s foundations
rest directly on the natural rock, the bot-
tom row consisting of andesite blocks.
The wall compensates for the irregularities
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of the rock by being partly cut into it.
The blocks were apparently laid with
mortar from the second row upwards.
Regular blocks with a height of 58 cm
could be ascertained in the western part of
the wall. These are very precisely laid,
without the use of mortar. Two parallel
oblique walls, running south from the ash-
lar wall at exactly this point, may indicate
a kind of dividing line of the insula, and
this may explain why Newton expected
the eastern outer wall to be found here.
About 11 m east of this point the con-
struction of the ashlar wall changes, with
smaller irregular blocks being used in its
lower, and large and well-dressed ashlars in
its upper courses. The bottom row of an-
desite blocks also terminated at exactly
this point, perhaps marking the original
corner of the insula. The ashlar wall seems
to have been prolonged eastwards during

building was abandoned. There are no
traces of fire, but everywhere in the apsi-
dal room fallen rooftiles and bricks mixed
with stucco could be observed; some
blocks of bricks had in fact penetrated the
mosaics in their fall.’! Since only a few
utensils were found during the excavation,
it seems that the building had already been
abandoned before it collapsed.

The late Roman building
and its architectural type

The building in Halikarnassos resembles
most closely the late antique palaces or
villas which have also been called houses,*
e.g. the late Roman house above the thea-
tre in Ephesos® and the so-called palace of
the bishop or governor in Aphrodisias.*
These large and complex buildings were

the construction of the building, partly
with reused, beautifully dressed ashlars.
The ceramic evidence suggests that the
carlier foundation walls under the mosaic
floor of rooom B date to the early Helle-
nistic period, as also does the lowest row
of ashlars of the northern outer wall. Fur-
thermore the ashlar wall faced onto the
ancient street that passed south of the ter-
race wall of the Maussolleion, also indicat-
ing that the most ancient part of this
building might reflect the 4th century
town plan of Maussollos.

As to the date, Newton thought that
nothing was earlier than the Antonine pe-
riod and nothing later than the Severan.?’
This dating appears to be much too early.
The comparative material cited by Hinks?®
indicates a date for the mosaics to the 4th
or 5th century A.D. At the present stage
of investigation, it appears, however, that
the latest phase of the building belongs to
the mid 5th or second half of the 5th cen-
tury A.D.?’ No doubt future work on the
excavated material will yield further in-
formation as regards different building
phases, but it seems that the villa had at
least four different levels during its latest
period.™

‘We have so far been unable to ascertain
at what time or why the late Roman

NOTE 27
Newton 1862, 310.

NOTE 28
Hinks 1933, 125-143.

NOTE 29

Hinks 1933. Cf. mosaics with representations of animals in Newton’s room A,
Hinks 1933, 126-127, nos. 50a-d, fig. 142-144, and similar friezes in Didyma,
Naumann 1980, pl. 78-79 (late Sth century AD). As regards the choice of motifs
the mosaics from Sarrin (Osrhoene) are very similar, Balty 1990.

NOTE 30
The four levels are: rooms A, B, C, E and F: 10.40 m. a.s.l., rooms D, G and pas-
sages A and B: 9.80 m. a.s.l,, room H: 9.30 m. as.l,, and room O: 8.80 m. as.l.

NOTE 31

An earthquake may have been the cause, but Halikarnassos does not seem to have
been exposed to earthquakes very often. Indeed, according to Tac. Ann. 4.55, one
of the reasons why Halikarnassos was considered a safe place for the dedication of a
temple to Tiberius was that no earthquake had occurred in the town for about
1200 years. For other reasons, however, the honour in this case fell to Smyrna.

NOTE 32

The designations of this type of building are rather confused, but for the present
we should probably maintain the designation “house” for the building in Halikar-
nasos, Ellis 1985, 15, 19, 23. Rossiter 1989 applies the villa designation on the
building in Apollonia. For discussions on “palatial” architecture, Downey 1993.

NOTE 33
Keil 1930, Beibl. 31-34; Keil 1932, Beibl. 7-12; Vetters 1981, 142.

NOTE 34

Campbell 1991, 14-15 with references. For a similar building in Apollonia, Ellis
1985 with references.
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characterized by many specialized rooms
intended for certain formal functions,
some of which had previously belonged to
the public sector.” This applies for exam-
ple to the audience room, normally a
large apsidal room with a direct exit to the
street through an anteroom.* The apsidal
room F may perhaps be identified with
such an audience room since the inscrip-
tion seems to address the visitor. Another
possibility is Room C, which may have
had a direct exit through room E. Room
E contained circular medallions with per-
sonifications of the cities of Halikarnassos,
Alexandria and Berytus,*” and such repre-
sentations were indeed suitable for a vesti-
bule. Some of these apsidal rooms were
used as dining rooms, the semicircular
couch, stibadium, being placed in the
apse.”® A door on the south side may indi-
cate, however, that room F was probébly
never used as a triclinium, since this feature
is normally not found in the apsidal din-
ing rooms, but is on the contrary usual in

NOTE 35
Ellis 1988; Ellis 1991.

NOTE 36
Ellis 1988, 569; Ellis 1991, 120.

NOTE 37
Newton 1862, 288-290; Hinks 1933, 133, no. 53, fig. 153.

NOTE 38
Duval 1984, 457-464; Ellis 1988, 571.

NOTE 39
Ellis 1991, 120.

NOTE 40

The proportions of the audience halls of Ephesos and Aphrodisias are almost iden-
tical with room F in width, 9.8 m. and 9 m., but both are longer, 22.2 m. and 18.5
m. respectively.

NOTE 41

The frieze in room D is 15.54 m. long, and 4.57 m. wide. Passage B is 4.43 m.
wide. The length is given to 19.51, since it includes the width of passage A (3.05
m.) and a wall (c. 0.60 m.).

NOTE 42
Also illustres were still residing in the provinces during the 5th and 6th centuries,
Jones 1964, 554; Ellis 1985, 23.

NOTE 43
The Proiecta casket of the Esquiline treasure is an excellent example of Christian
owners favouring secular and pagan motifs, Shelton 1981, 31-35.

the audience rooms.* The audience
rooms of the ‘villas’ in Ephesos and in
Aphrodisias were both characterized by
exceptionally beautiful floors;*® the room
in Ephesos had a fine suspended geomet-
ric mosaic bordered by ivy-leaves, whereas
the floor of the room in Aphrodisias was
laid with opus sectile, the motifs being
superimposed circles in several colours.

It seems strange that no peristyle has
been found in the late Roman building,
since it constitutes a central feature in the
other houses of similar character, size and
date. It may, of course, be situated outside
the excavated area. But another possibility
is that it was roofed over and filled in with
mosaic floors at a sligthly later date. That
this is the case is suggested by Room D,
surrounded by Passage A, B, and G. The
peristyle character of room D is shown by
a number of factors. Firstly, it contains, on
its northern side, an oblong frieze com-
parable to that of Passage B.*! Not only
are the compositions of these mosaics sim-
ilar, but some of the motifs used in them
are identical. Moreover, the east-west
oriented wall between D and N suggests
that the mosaic floor of D was a later solu-
tion, and that by then only N remained an
open courtyard. Contrary to the other
walls of the building, this wall is founded
directly in earth and its masonry is of rath-
er poor quality. And finely the existence
of a well in Room D may further indicate
that this area of the building had originally
been an open courtyard.

Only in very rare cases has it been pos-
sible to identify the owners of these large
buildings; in most cases it can only be said
with certainty that they must have be-
longed to the provincial aristocracy.* As is
the case of the late Roman building in
Halikarnassos, the name of the dedicator
of the decoration, especially the mosaic
floors, is often known to us, but unfortu-
nately supplementary information from
other sources is rare. The choice of motifs
in the mosaics and the inscriptions of Hal-
ikarnassos suggest that Charidemos be-
longed to the pagan provincial aristocra-
cy.® The iconography of the mosaics is
wholly pagan in character:
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Room A:
Hunting scenes with lions, dogs, wild goat

and bull.

Room B:

Atalanta and Meleager, Dido and Aeneas,
the four Seasons, birds, animals, flowers
and ivy-leaves.

Room C:
Venus or Amphitrite in shell carried by
two tritons, ivy-leaves.

Room D:

Phobos-heads, satyr pursuing a nymph or
a maenad, Nereid seated on ichthyo-cen-
taur, Dionysos with panther, Pan’s pipe,
birds, flowers, fish, cocks, head with dia-
dem and ivy wreaths, four heads, scene in
a vineyard with Pan, Eros, panther, lion,
dog and birds, dolphins, Europa standing
by the bull, reclining water nymph, dog
and hare.

Room E:
Medallions with personifications of Hali-
karnassos, Berytus and Alexandria.

Room F:

The four Seasons, hunting scenes includ-
ing panther, dogs, wild goat, stags and
deers, inscriptions, amphora, flowers, ivy-
leaves, pomegranates.

Room G: Bird.
Room H: Flowers and ivy-leaves.

Room O:

Fish, dolphins, acanthus scroll with flow-
ers and birds, nereid riding on ichtyo-cen-
taur.

Passage A:
Flowers, ivy-leaves, pomegranates, bird,
dolphin, laurel wreath with inscription

Passage B:

Part of thyrsos, inscription, lower part of
figure, lower half of goat-legged figure
(Pan?), birds, heads, fishes, trees, flowers,
cock, fruit, grapes.
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Although this strong pagan predominance
in the iconographic repertoire may seem
surprising some 125 years after Constan-
tine the Great, it does seem to conform
with the general situation in the south-
western part of Asia Minor during the 5th
and 6th centuries. In fact it may be con-
firmed by an almost contemporary source
relating to the situation in Caria, namely
the manuscript of St. John of Ephesos.*
During his work in Caria around the mid
6th century John of Ephesos recorded that
there was still an unusually widespread pa-
gan activity. Other late Roman sources,
not least the Christian critics, emphasize
the luxurius appointments, the lavish de-
corations, of various contemporary houses
and villas. Some of these critics were nat-
urally prone to overstatement, since their
purpose in adducing these luxurious resi-
dences was precisely to use them as exeni-
pla of immoral conduct.

A pagan description of an earlier date,
by Ammianus Marcellinus (28.4.12), may
thus give a more objective impression of
how to interpret decoration and furnish-
ings of a late Roman private house.* Am-
mianus tells us that the clients and para-
sites who thronged such a wealthy house
were so impressed by its architectural em-
bellishment, its rows of soaring columns,
its lofty facade, and the polychrome deco-
ration of its walls, that they would flatter
the aristocratic owner by comparing him
to famous heroes of the past, or even to
the gods. The late Roman aristocrat must
therefore have attached great importance
to the embellishment of his house, espe-
cially of its audience rooms, as a way of
establishing his selfconsequence and en-
hancing his prestige: the mosaics and oth-
er elements of decoration were a visible
sign of his status.*®

The attribution of heroic qualities to
the aristocratic owner corresponds to the
growth in representations of heroes and
mythological episodes during the late Ro-
man period.*” Room B of the building in
Halikarnassos thus had representations of
hunting scenes with Meleager and Atalan-
ta in a compartment to the west (Figs. 16-
18),*® Aeneas and Dido to the east, all

NOTE 44
Bowersock 1990, 1-3;
Cameron 1993, 70.

NOTE 45
Ellis 1991, 118.

NOTE 46

Cf. Wallace-Hadrill 1988
and 1990 for discussion of
houses as status symbol of
the owner during an ear-
lier period.

NOTE 47
Brilliant 1979; Raeck
1992,

NOTE 48

The photos of these mosa-
ics were taken during
Newton’s excavations, and
are now divided between
the Greek and Roman
Department, British Mu-
seum, and the British Li-
brary. They will all be
published in the forthcom-
ing publication of the late
Roman building.



Fig 16. Atalanta (Photo: B. Spackmann, Greek and Roman Depart-
ment, British Museum).

NOTE 49

Boardman 1984, nos. 22-26; 34-39; 44-59. Among the Roman
specimens only no. 47 stems from Xanthos. See also, Balty 1990,
54-57, 76; Raeck 1992, 71-98.

NOTE 50
Canciani 1981, nos. 157-161; Balty 1990, 55-56.

NOTE 51

Atalanta and Meleager are not placed in two different compart~
ments, as stated by Raeck 1992, 82; cf. Newton 1862, 283-284,
and infra figs. 16-18.

NOTE 52
Raeck 1992, 71-98. Cf. also Ellis 1991, 118, 125-127 and Balty
1984, 458-459.

Fig. 17. The central part of the frieze (Photo: B. Spackmann, British

i

Fig. 18. Meleager (Photo: B. Spackmann, Greek and Roman Depart-

ment, British Museum).

identified by inscriptions. Both motifs are
exceptional in Asia Minor,* but whereas
Meleager and Atalanta appear several
times in the late Roman mosaics of Syria,
the representations of Aeneas and Dido
are comparatively rare.>® From the photos
of the mosaics in situ it appears that Ata-
lanta and Meleager are riding against each
other.®! In contrast to the original version
of the myth, they are not chasing a wild
boar, but two felines. To the right of the
tree, a lion is shown attacking Atalanta on
horseback; she is holding a bow 1n her
hands. Further to the right Meleager is
thrusting his spear at a panther situated
below the front legs of his horse. Accord-

ing to the recent study by W. Raeck,> this
feature is characteristic of the use of classi-
cal myths during Late Antiquity. The origi-
nal mythological event and its significance
were subordinated to the exemplum by
which the owner, by means of a represen-
tation of a famous mythological act, raised
the much favoured hunting sport of the
aristocracy to a mythological sphere, and
thus indirectly emphasized his virtus.

As to the interpretation of the excavat-
ed structure. the written sources are of lit-
tle use. We know that Halikarnassos was
plundered by Verres and later by pirates.
From a remark by Cicero it appears that
the town at that time had fallen into decay,
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but was being restored by his (Cicero’s)
brother, Quintus.> Although Vitruvius
gives a more detailled account of the
town, it remains uncertain whether he ac-

tually visited Halikarnassos himself.** Hali-

karnassos was among the towns which ap-
plied for a permission to dedicate a temple
to Tiberius in 26 A.D.>® The sources to
the history of the town under Roman
rule are indeed extremely sparse, but the
town was never forgotten as the site of
one of the seven wonders of the world.
During the reign of Justinian Hierokles
mentioned it as the third town in Caria
after Miletus and Heraclea,>® but other-
wise we only know that the bishop of the
town ranked as no. 21 below Stauropolis
(Aphrodisias).”’

The remains of the newly excavated
building reflect the history of Halikarnas-
sos from the 4th century B.C. to the 5th
century A.D. The earliest architectural re-
mains probably derive from Maussollos’
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re-foundation of Halikarnassos during the
4th century B.C., and are important as
evidence for this part of the town having
also been included in the orthogonal town
plan. Although Halikarnassos was seem-
ingly a remote place during the Imperial
period and Late Antiquity, there were ap-
parently still aristocratic patrons to com-
mission, and resources to produce, luxuri-
ous buildings like the one in question dur-
ing the 5th century A.D.*® Since our
knowledge of the domestic architecture of
the town is otherwise limited to Newton’s
mid 19th century excavations and some
unpublished reports,> the excavated struc-
ture is extremely important for our under-
standing of the domestic architecture of
Halikarnassos during Late Antiquity.

* The English was revised by Peter Spring.
The photographs, figs. 3-13, were made
by Jacob Isager.

NOTE 53
Cic. Verr. 11.1.19.49; Cic.
QFr. 1.1.8.

NOTE 54
Vitr. 2.8.10-15; Jeppesen
1989.

NOTE 55
Tac. Ann. 4.55. cf. note 31.

NOTE 56

Stiernon 1990, col. 141;
Honigmann 1939, 32, no.
687.10.

NOTE 57

Middle of the 7th century
AD, Stiernon 1990, col.
143,

NOTE 58

The inscription of the tab-
ula ansata seems to indicate
that the building was raised
from the ground, see Isag-
er, below 211-221,

NOTE 59
Two further houses or vil-

"las from Halikarnassos are

known: one was revealed
during the construction of
a house in the middle of
the town in 1990. The
mosaics were removed and
transferred to the Bodrum
Museum. Another villa,
likewise containing mosaic
floors, is situated near the
coast of the Salmacis
promontory.



Bibliography

Abbreviations of periodicals according to
Archiologische Bibliographie.

Balty, J. 1973
Mosaique de Ge et des saisons a Apamée,
Syria 50, 311-347.

Balty, J. 1984
Les mosaiques de Syrie au 5e siécle et leur
répertoire, Byzantion 54, 437-468.

Balty, J. 1990

La mosaique de Sarrin (Osrhoéne), Paris.

Boardman, J. 1984
Atalante, in: LIMC I, Ziirich-Minchen,
940-950.

Bowersock, G.W. 1990
Hellenism in Late Antiquity. Cambridge-
Sydney.

Brilliant, R. 1979

Mpythology, in: The Age of Spirituality:
Late Antique and Early Christian Art,
Third to Seventh Centuty, (ed. K. Weitz-
mann), Princeton, 126-198.

Biirchner, L. 1912
Halikarnassos, in: RE VII.2, Stuttgart,
2253-2264.

Cameron, A. 1993
The Mediterranean World in Late Anti-
quity AD 395-600. London-New York.

Campbell, S.D. 1979
Roman Mosaic Workshops in Turkey, AJA
83, 287-292.

Campbell, S. 1988
The Mosaics of Antioch. Toronto.

Campbell, S. 1991
The Mosaics of Aphrodisias in Caria.
Toronto.

Canciani, E 1981
Aineas, in: LIMC I, Ziirich-Miinchen,
381-396.

Downey, S.B. 1993

The Palace of the Dux Ripae at Dura-Eu-
ropos and “palatial” Architecture of Late
Antiquity, in: Eius Virtutis Studiosi: Classi~
cal and Postclassical Studies in Memory of
EE. Brown (1908-1988), (eds. R.T. Scott,
A.R. Scott), Hanover-London, 183-198.

Duval, N. 1984

Les maisons d’Apamée et I'architecture
‘palatial’ de I’ Antiquité tardive, in:
Colloque d’Apamée de Syrie 3 (Fouilles
d’Apamée de Syrie, Misc. 13), Bruxelles,
447-470.

Ellis, S.P. 1985

“The Palace of the Dux” at Apollonia and
Related Houses, in: Cyrenaica in Antigity
(ed. G. Barker et al.), Oxford, 15-25.

Ellis, S.P. 1988
The End of the Roman House, 92, 565-
576.

Ellis, S.P. 1991

Power, Architecture, and Decor: How the
Late Roman Aristocrat Appeared to his
Guests, in: Roman Art in the Private
Sphere, (ed. EK. Gazda), Ann Arbor, 117~
134,

Feyler, G. 1987
Contribution 4 I’'Histoire des Origines de
la Photographie Archéologique, MEFRA
99, 1019-1047.

Hinks, R.P. 1933.

Catalogue of the Greek, Etruscan and Ro-
man Mosaics and Paintings in the British
Museum. London.

Honigmann, E. 1939

Le Synekdémos d’Hiéroklés et I'Opuscule
Géographique de Georges de Chypre.
Bruxelles.

Jenkins, 1. 1992

Archeologiets and Aesthetes in the Sculp-
ture Galleries of the British Museum
1800-1939. London.

Jeppesen, K. 1989
Did Vitruvius Ever Visit Halikarnassos?,
Anadolu 22, (1981/1983), 85-98.

Jones, A H.M. 1964
The Later Roman Empire. Oxford.

Keil, J. 1930
XV. Vorldufiger Bericht iiber die Ausgra-
bungen in Ephesos, OJh 26, Beibl. 6-66.

Keil, J. 1932
XVI. Vorldufiger Bericht liber die Ausgra-
bungen in Ephesos, OJh 27, Beibl. 6-71.

Levi, D. 1947
Antioch Mosaic Pavements I-I1. Prince-
ton-The Hague.

Mellink, M.J. 1973
Archeology in Asia Minor, AJA 77, 169-193.

Naumann, R. 1980
Die Ausgrabungen beiden Thermen in
Didyma, IstMitt 30, 177-189.

Newton, C.T. 1862
Discoveries at Halicarnassus, Cnidus, and
Branchidae. London.

Parrish, D. 1984
Season Mosaics of Roman North Africa.
Rome.

Pedersen, P. 1988

The Maussolleion-terrace at Halicarnassus
and the 4th c. B.C. town-planning in
south-western Asia Minor, in: XII Interna-
tional Congress of Classical Archaeology
(Athens 1983), vol. 4, Athens, 155-159.

‘Pedersen, P. 1988a

Town-Planning in Halicarnassus and
Rhodes, in: Archaeology in the Dodecane-
se, (eds. S. Dietz and I. Papachritodoulou),
Copenhagen, 98-103.

Poulsen, B. 1004

The new excavations in Halikarnassos
(1990-1991), in: Halicarnassian Studies,
Vol. 1. (ed. J. Isager) Odense, 115-133.

207



Poulsen, B. forthcoming a
The Roman Villa in Halikarnassos,
TurKAD.

Poulsen, B. forthcoming b

The late Roman Villa in Halikarnassos, in:
Proceedings of the XIV International
Congress of Classical Archaeology (Tarra-
gona 1993).

Raeck, W. 1992

Modernisierte Mythen. Zum Umgang der
Spitantike mit klassischen Bildthemen.
Stuttgart.

208

Rossiter, ].J. 1989

Roman villas of the Greek east and the
villa in Gregory of Nyssa Ep. 20, JRomA
2, 101-110.

Shelton, K .J. 1981
The Esquiline Treasure. London.

Stiernon, D. 1990

Halikarnasse, in: Dictionnaire d’Historie et
de Géographie Ecclésiastiques, Paris, cols.
139-145.

‘Wallace-Hadrill, A. 1988
The Social Structure of the Roman House,
BSR 56, 43-97.

Wiallace-Hadrill, A. 1990

The Social Spread of Roman Luxury:
Sampling Pompeii and Herculaneum, BSR
58, 145-192.

Vetters, H. 1981
Ephesos. Vorldufiger Grabungsbericht
1980, AnzWien 118, 137-168.



